IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC 02-2491

Lower Tribunal No.: ID 01-2358

ST. JOE CORPORATION, f/k/a ST. JOE PAPER COMPANY,

Petitioner,

VS.

H. BRUCE MCIVER,

Respondent.	

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KENNETH G. OERTEL Fla. Bar I.D. No. 128808

C. ANTHONY CLEVELAND Fla. Bar I.D. No. 217859

OERTEL, FERNANDEZ & COLE, P.A. Post Office Box 1110
Tallahassee, FL 32302-1110
Telephone: (850) 521-0700
Facsimile: (850) 521-0720

Attorneys for Petitioner St. Joe Corporation f/k/a St. Joe Paper Company

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, St. Joe Corporation, f/k/a St. Joe Paper Company, will be referred to as "Petitioner" or "St. Joe." Respondent H. Bruce McIver will be referred to as "Respondent" or "McIver." Petitioner, St. Joe, was the Appellee before the First District Court of Appeal and the Defendant in the Circuit Court proceedings. Respondent, McIver, was the Appellant before the First District Court of Appeal and the Plaintiff in the Circuit Court proceeding.

Citations to the Appendix will refer to the September 13, 2002, decision of the First District Court of Appeal by page number of the decision as follows: (App., P. ______) Petitioner will use the record designations used in the appeal below. The record on appeal consists of nine volumes, including a supplemental volume. In this brief, references to the record will be indicated as (R. ______). The decision of the First District Court of Appeal is reported at McIver v. St. Joe Corporation, 828 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

In Count I of his Third Amended Complaint, Respondent, a licensed real estate broker, alleged the existence of an express oral contract concerning the sale of property owned by Petitioner St. Joe. (R. 893) This property is approximately 660 acres known as Topsail Hill. The alleged oral agreement provided that Respondent was to act as St. Joe's real estate agent in selling the Topsail Hill property to the State of Florida. Respondent alleged that his real estate commission and consulting fee under the oral agreement would have been two percent of the sale. (R. 393, 394, 422) Respondent asserted that if there was a sale, he was to be paid. (R. 422) In addition, an affidavit attached to Respondent's Amended Complaint, entitled "Beneficial Interest and Disclosure Affidavit" provided that Respondent was to receive "2% of the sale price." (Emphasis added.) (R. 721)

The State of Florida never accepted any sale agreement presented or negotiated by Respondent. Respondent admitted this in his Third Amended Complaint. Topsail Hill was never sold to the State of Florida pursuant to any sales agreement, whether negotiated by Respondent or otherwise. The offers made by the State's staff were either not approved by the Governor and cabinet or contained too low a proposed price for the property to be acceptable to St. Joe. (R. 411, 420, 424, 425, 232, 233)

Accordingly, the State of Florida commenced legal proceedings to acquire the Topsail Hill property from St. Joe through condemnation rather than through a negotiated sale. (R. 710-855, 856-857) It is undisputed that at the time the State determined to initiate condemnation proceedings, negotiations for the sale of Topsail Hill were at impasse and that was the "whole reason" for the condemnation. (R. 241) On July 20, 1994, the Chairman of St. Joe wrote to the Internal Improvement Trust Fund of the State of Florida specifically stating, in relevant part:

The St. Joe Paper Company hereby objects to the taking of its land referenced above and respectfully requests that the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund of the State of Florida vote against the Proposed Resolution No. 94-2 purporting to authorize such taking.

(R. 788)

The Third Amended Complaint itself alleged that on or about July 20, 1994, St. Joe notified the State of Florida, that St. Joe did not desire the State of Florida to acquire the subject property through condemnation. The State filed its condemnation action on September 30, 1994. (R. 1141) Respondent McIver was not identified in writing to the State as a St. Joe "agent" subsequent to this filing. (R. 724) On October 21, 1994, St. Joe notified the State in writing that Respondent was no longer to be contacted in any way with respect to the Topsail Hill parcel, although he had

"heretofore been listed." (R. 798) Respondent was copied with the letter. (R. 481-482) There is no basis for any assertion that Respondent McIver had any role in the condemnation proceeding. (R. 483-484, 8156-857) St. Joe defended itself and sought to defeat the condemnation proceedings. (R. 856-857, 895) It was uncontroverted that the eminent domain proceedings through which the State intended to acquire the Topsail Hill property from St. Joe were considered neither "friendly" nor constituted a "friendly eminent domain suit" by the State. (R. 972, 975, 989)

On December 5, 1995, the Circuit Court for the First Judicial Circuit which was hearing the condemnation case entered its "Topsail Consent Final Judgment." The eminent domain Court had previously dismissed the State's petition. However, the State filed a motion for rehearing. If a consent final judgment had not been entered, the State would have appealed. (R. 799-834, 1038) The Court entered findings that the "taking of the property described on Exhibit A attached and by reference made a part hereof is reasonably necessary for the public purposes set forth in the Amended Petition." (R. 893) In its December 5, 1995, Order, the Court also held that upon payment of the compensation due St. Joe, as specified in the Final Judgment, into the registry of the Court, fee simple title would vest in the State (through the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund) and the State would be entitled to immediate possession of the Topsail Hill property.

On February 13, 2001, the trial Court in this matter entered its Final Summary Judgment for St. Joe. (R. 1423-1428) The Circuit Court held:

The most that can be said . . . is that the Plaintiff was the procuring cause of the property being acquired by condemnation. Since the Plaintiff can point to no evidence in the record to show that the contract between the parties provided for a commission in the event of acquisition by condemnation, the Plaintiff is not entitled to his fee and there is thus no breach of contract.

* * *

Here the parties specifically had not agreed upon the purchase price. . . . For better or for worse, once the proceedings were initiated against the Defendant's property, it had no authority to withdraw from negotiations, or to refuse to sell the property to the State. True, the Defendant had successfully obtained an order of dismissal, but a motion for rehearing was pending, and an appeal was apparently contemplated, certainly possible. If the appeal time had run and the parties continued negotiations that resulted in a sale, the Plaintiff might have an argument. But that is not what happened.

(R. 1425-27) On February 23, 2001, Respondent McIver filed his Motion for Rehearing (R. 1429-1431), which was denied on May 15, 2001. (R. 1476-1477) Respondent's appeal to the First District Court of Appeal followed.

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the Final Summary Judgment with respect to Counts II (quantum meruit), and III (unjust enrichment) of Respondent's Third Amended Complaint, but reversed and remanded Final Summary Judgment with

respect to Count I. (App., P. 10) The First District Court of Appeal held that the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Dauer v. Pichowski</u>, 413 So.2d 62 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), did not provide for a bright-line rule that conveyances pursuant to condemnation cannot be considered a "sale" for purposes of a brokerage commission. (App. P. 6)

On November 18, 2002, St. Joe filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction of Supreme Court, citing conflict with <u>Dauer v. Pichowski</u>, 413 So.2d 62 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), and <u>Keyes Co. v. Florida Nursing Corp.</u>, 340 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). Following the submission of jurisdictional briefs by the parties, this Court accepted jurisdiction of this case on May 8, 2003.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial Court below properly granted summary judgment to St. Joe on Respondent's express contract count. The oral contract, as asserted by Respondent, provided for a two percent commission upon the sale of the Topsail Hill property. No sale occurred. This contract contained no entitlement to a sales commission should the property be taken by condemnation. Condemnation is never considered a sale for purposes of a commission. The contract was not performed and, accordingly, no contractual right to a commission arose. The First District Court of Appeal erred in failing to hold that the taking of property pursuant to condemnation necessarily cannot constitute a sale for purposes of a brokerage commission. The bright-line rule enunciated in Dauer v. Pichowski, 413 So.2d 62 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), and Keyes Company v. Florida Nursing Corporation, 340 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), which holds that a taking by condemnation cannot constitute a sale for purposes of a commission unless the brokerage agreement provides for such a contingency, should be approved by this Court. The trial Court's Final Summary Judgment with respect to Respondent's Count I (express contract claim) should be affirmed.

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT **OF** APPEAL **ERRED** IN **FAILING** TO **THAT** THE HOLD **TAKING OF** PROPERTY **PURSUANT** TO CONDEMNATION PROCEEDINGS CANNOT CONSTITUTE A SALE FOR **BROKERAGE PURPOSES** \mathbf{OF} A **COMMISSION**

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgments are reviewed *de novo*. <u>Volusia County v. Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P.</u>, 760 So.2d 126, 130 (Fla. 2000).

ARGUMENT

In its Decision, the First District Court of Appeal reversed an order of the trial Court granting summary judgment to St. Joe on a claim by Respondent. Respondent sued for a commission on the State of Florida's taking, by consent judgment in an eminent domain proceeding, of property owned by St. Joe. Summary judgment had been granted, in relevant part, because McIver was only entitled to a commission, if at all, if the subject property was "sold," and, as a matter of law, a condemnation is not a sale. Accordingly, no commission was owed since the broker's agreement with the seller did not expressly provide for a commission in the event of a taking. The First DCA reversed summary judgment, opining that existing case law in Florida does not establish a "bright-line rule" that a condemnation does not constitute a "sale" for

purposes of determining whether a broker is entitled to a commission.

In its brief on jurisdiction, Respondent contended that there was no conflict between the decision of the First District Court of Appeal subject to review by this Court and Dauer v. Pichowski, 413, So.2d 62 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), and Keyes Company v. Florida Nursing Corporation, 340 So.2d 1254 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). This Court, however, having accepted jurisdiction, has necessarily determined that conflict exists.

The First District Court of Appeal, in its decision below, did not reject <u>Dauer</u>, but instead misconstrued it. Specifically, the First District stated:

McIver asserts that St. Joe's conveyance of Topsail to the State satisfies the criteria in <u>Dauer v. Pichowski</u>, 413 So.2d 62 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), for a 'sale,' and thus a jury could find that the State acquired Topsail by a voluntary 'sale' rather than by involuntary condemnation and McIver would be entitled to a commission pursuant to his express agreement with St. Joe. St. Joe agrees that <u>Dauer</u> controls, but maintains that <u>Dauer</u> established a bright-line test applicable to condemnation cases.

(App., P. 4)

The First District Court of Appeal went on to hold:

The circuit court adopted St. Joe's view of <u>Dauer</u> as setting forth a bright-line rule that once the State has initiated a condemnation action, any conveyance that occurs while that action is pending does not constitute a sale for purposes of

a broker's commission, unless the brokerage agreement provides for such a contingency. We do not read <u>Dauer</u> so strictly. Rather, the three 'tests,' or factors, set forth in <u>Dauer</u> should be examined in light of the facts in each case.

(App., P. 5-6)

<u>Dauer</u>, however, unambiguously establishes just such a bright-line test. <u>Dauer</u> holds:

It is well settled that a condemnation proceeding does not constitute a sale for purposes of the right to be paid a real estate commission. Preston v. Carnation Co., 196 Cal.App.2d 43, 16 Cal.Rptr. 240 (1961); Haigler v. Ingle, 119 Colo. 145, 200 P.2d 913 (1948); Wilson v. Frederick R. Ross Investment Co., 116 Colo 249, 180 P.2d 226 (1947); Schwenn v. S. Goldberg & Co., 88 N.J. Super. 113, 210 A.2d 808 (1965), aff'd 91 N.J. Super. 346, 220 W.2d 421 (1966); Shaw v. Avenue D Stores, Inc., 115 N.Y.S.2d 194 (Sup. Ct. 1952); Emerson c. Custis & Co. v. Tradesman's National Bank & Trust Co., 155 Pa. Super. 282, 38 A.2d 409 (1944).

Id. at 63.

The decision below misconstrues <u>Dauer</u> in requiring that three "tests" or "factors" be examined. The language relied upon by the Court and Respondent below and attributed to the <u>Dauer</u> court–describing the three conditions that must be present

for a transaction to be considered a sale—is in fact the <u>Dauer Court</u>'s summary of the Colorado Supreme Court's holding in <u>Wilson v. Frederick R. Ross Investment Co.</u>, 116 Colo. 249, 180 P.2d 226 (1947).

<u>Dauer</u> cited to <u>Wilson</u>, <u>supra</u>, for the proposition that a transaction 'may be considered a sale for purposes of a broker's commission only when the owner agrees on the property to be sold, concurs as to the time at which he is to give up possession, and has the power to negotiate a satisfactory price.' <u>Dauer</u>, 413 So.2d at 64. Significantly, <u>Dauer</u> then held, "[o]bviously, <u>condemnation</u> meets <u>none of these</u> tests." (Emphasis added) Id. Dauer does not state that most condemnations fail to meet the 'tests,' but that 'condemnation' meets none of the tests. Wilson itself is clear why this is necessarily the case, holding that an owner subject to condemnation proceedings has two choices, "(1) reaching an accord in respect to compensation for the property condemned, or (2) contesting the case in court. The owner is in court whether he wants to be or not, and his only alternatives are to settle or litigate." (Emphasis added) Wilson, 180 P.2d at 232. This perfectly describes St. Joe's position in the condemnation proceeding through which its property was taken.

Wilson concerned a claim by two real estate firms for a commission for the sale of real estate, when in fact the real estate was taken by the federal government for a munitions plant early in World War II. The Colorado court reversed a judgment for

the real estate brokers, and held that, absent an <u>express provision</u> promising a commission in the event of condemnation, the court would not infer one. Thus, the holding in <u>Wilson</u> is the same as in <u>Dauer</u>, and supports the Circuit Court order appealed to the First District Court below. In this regard, <u>Dauer</u> holds:

Even where he is the procuring cause of property being acquired by condemnation, a broker can <u>only</u> recover a commission <u>if</u> there <u>is</u> a <u>specific provision</u> in the brokerage contract to this effect. <u>Wilson v. Frederick R. Ross Investment Co.</u>; <u>Shaw v. Avenue D. Stores, Inc.</u> (Emphasis added.)

<u>Dauer</u>, 413 So.2d at 63-64. Respondent did not and could not assert that such a specific contractual provision existed on his behalf.

It is reiterated that the State's acquisition of St. Joe's property took place through a condemnation proceeding. The fact that the final judgment entered in the condemnation proceeding resulted from a settlement rather than one obtained only after a trial is of no consequence. Certainly, many condemnation proceedings are resolved as a result of settlement rather than trial. Nevertheless, they reflect and embody the State's exercise of its eminent domain power through the condemnation process. By contrast, if negotiations fail in the context of a pending eminent domain proceeding, the ultimate fate of the property will be determined by the courts. These courts can include both the trial court as well as the district courts of appeal as a result

of any appeals which might be filed.

Even though the final order of taking in the condemnation proceeding was a consent judgment, the State always retained the right to, at any time, cease negotiations with St. Joe and continue with its condemnation action. This is true even though an order had been entered dismissing the condemnation action. The State had promptly filed a motion for rehearing of that order, and, according to its counsel, would have appealed the dismissal if rehearing was unsuccessful. The fact that negotiations to settle a pending eminent domain proceeding take place through draft consent final judgments does <u>not</u> indicate that there was no real and authentic petition in eminent domain. Indeed, the fact that any potential settlement was proposed to take the form of a consent final judgment in eminent domain indicates that any transfer of the property would be pursuant to an eminent domain case, and not a "sale" to be executed by the parties and approved by the Florida Cabinet sitting as the Board of Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund.

It was <u>uncontroverted</u> below that if the State of Florida and St. Joe had not settled and resolved the State's eminent domain proceeding, notwithstanding any action which the trial court preliminarily took with regard to the "taking issue," the State of Florida <u>would</u> have appealed. (R. 1038) While St. Joe may have won the first

battle in having the condemnation action dismissed, absent settlement, the war was far from over.

The cases cited in <u>Wilson</u> demonstrated that the <u>Wilson</u> Court's holding did <u>not</u> allow a condemnation action, initiated as a result of the <u>lack</u> of an agreement between the parties as to a sale, to substitute for a sale for purposes of a brokerage commission.

In <u>Tiffany Studios v. Siebert</u>, 166 N.Y.S. 304 (1917), the Court was faced with interpreting a will which provided that heirs should receive stipulated shares upon the <u>sale</u> of certain real estate. <u>Id</u>. at 308. After some of the land was acquired by condemnation, the <u>Tiffany</u> Court found the condemnation to be a sale for purposes of the heirs receiving the "sale" proceeds. <u>Id</u>. This case, as recognized by the <u>Wilson</u> Court, is wholly dissimilar to he one before this Court, and does not stand for the proposition that a condemnation can ever be treated as a sale for brokerage commission purposes. <u>Tiffany</u> only interpreted a "sale" to give meaning to a will's intent. No brokerage commission was involved.

With respect to <u>Tyler v. Seiler</u>, 136 N.Y.S. 394 (1912), the <u>Wilson Court notes</u> the <u>Tyler Court found the condemnation to be a "sale" only because, ". . . the sole purpose of the condemnation proceedings was to clear a defect in title." 180 P.2d 226 at 230. In the instant case, there were no title issues which would have necessitated</u>

such a condemnation. In fact, in the case at hand, the <u>sole</u> purpose of the condemnation was for the State to take the property that St. Joe owned, after they were unable to reach an agreement with St. Joe with respect to a <u>sale</u> price.

Similarly in Emerson C. Custis & Co. v. Tradesman Nat. Bank & Trust Co., 38 A.2d 409 (Sup. Ct. Pa. 1944), a case cited by the Dauer Court, the defendant offered to pay a commission to anyone that could effect a sale at the asking price of \$40,000. The Appellant-Broker offered the property to the government at \$40,000. Id. The Government was not willing to pay \$40,000 and instead began condemnation proceedings. Id. After these proceedings were begun, the seller accepted a valuation of \$33,500. Id. at 410. As the Emerson Court held:

It amounts to <u>nothing</u> that appellant may have conducted negotiations with a prospective purchaser unless the <u>negotiations resulted in making a sale</u> in fulfillment of the stipulated conditions. The situation here was that the government refused to buy at the fixed price, and began proceedings to condemn the property. <u>Id</u>. (Emphasis added)

38 A.2d 409 at 410.

This is exactly the situation in the instant case. Respondent conducted negotiations with the State but was not able to affect a sale on terms acceptable to St. Joe. Subsequent to Respondent's efforts, and without any agreement as to an

acceptable price, the State began condemnation proceedings. The ultimate amount of compensation received for the property is irrelevant.

Respondent and St. Joe originally entered into an oral agreement in December, 1990. By July, 1994, St. Joe had received three different proposals from the State of Florida for the purchase of the property in question. After these negotiations were unsuccessful, the State notified St. Joe of their intention to acquire the property via condemnation. St. Joe immediately notified the State that they did not desire to have their property acquired via condemnation. Nonetheless, the State began condemnation proceedings in 1994.

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