IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02 - 2491

ST. JOE CORPORATION,

Petitioner,

v.

H. BRUCE McIVER,

Respondent.

On Petition For Review Of A Decision Of The First District Court of Appeal Based On Conflict Jurisdiction

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Law Offices of R. Stuart Huff 330 Alhambra Circle Coral Gables, Fla. 33134

Ben H. Wilkinson, Esq. Pennington, Moore, Wilkinson, Bell & Dunbar, P.A. 215 South Monroe Street - 2d Floor Tallahassee, Fla. 32302

> Lawrence & Daniels 100 North Biscayne Blvd. - 21st Floor Miami, Fla. 33132 (305) 358-3371

> > Attorneys for Respondent

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

Count II of McIver's complaint alleges the existence of an implied-in-fact commission agreement between McIver and St. Joe (R5.892). McIver alleged this cause of action as an alternative theory of recovery if the jury were to find, under the express contract count, that the conveyance from St. Joe to the State was not a "sale." The trial judge, in the mistaken belief that the parties' express contract precluded the possibility of an implied contract, granted summary judgment in St. Joe's favor on this cause of action (R8.1424). The District Court, without analysis or discussion, affirmed.

An implied-in-fact contract will be found where the plaintiff performs services for the defendant at the latter's request. An implied-in-fact contract will also be found where the defendant does not expressly request the plaintiff's services, but accepts services from the plaintiff under circumstances where, in the ordinary course of events, a reasonable person receiving such services would expect to pay for them. Commerce Partnership 8098 Ltd. v. Equity Contracting Co., 695 So.2d 383, 385-387 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) (en banc). The difference between an express contract and an implied-in-fact contract lies simply in "the manner by which the parties manifest assent to the contract." Commerce Partnership, 695 So.2d at 385,390; Rabon v. Inn of Lake City, Inc., 693 So.2d 1126, 1131 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). Assent in a contract implied

in fact is inferred from the parties' total course of dealings and performance. <u>Commerce Partnership</u>, 695 So.2d at 385; <u>Rabon</u>, 693 So.2d at 1131. Here, if the jury finds that the condemnation was not a "sale" under the parties' *express* contract, the jury could still find that St. Joe, by its conduct, entered into an *implied* contract to pay McIver a commission if it obtained, through condemnation, the benefits of a "sale".

McIver, as St. Joe's agent, recommended friendly condemnation to St. Joe as a way of breaking the impasse over valuation. After McIver had strategized with St. Joe regarding friendly condemnation, St. Joe asked McIver, and McIver agreed, to arrange the condemnation. St. Joe appreciated the financial benefits it would reap by having the sales negotiations conducted in the context of a friendly condemnation: the negotiations over valuation would now be based on Topsail's highest and best use, valuable development rights could be secured, excess properties in St. Joe's inventory could be profitably unloaded, tax benefits would be obtained (R2.442-443), and the fees of St. Joe's attorneys and appraisers in accomplishing all this would be paid by the State.

After McIver succeeded in his efforts to have the State initiate condemnation, St. Joe reconfirmed to the State that McIver was still its broker and consultant. St. Joe then accepted the benefits of McIver's efforts never telling him, until after he had arranged and the State had commenced the friendly condemnation, that it would not pay a commission if a "sale" were consummated -- as eventually it was -- within the context of the condemnation.

McIver did not believe that by proposing a friendly condemnation at his principal's request to achieve his principal's financial objectives he was abandoning his claim to a commission. Nor did St. Joe suggest to McIver, until after he had fully performed, that the new context in which sales negotiations would continue would cost him his commission. Under these circumstances, St. Joe's request of, and agreement with, McIver to initiate the condemnation process on its behalf constituted an implied agreement to pay McIver a commission based on the conveyance that resulted from the condemnation.

St. Joe and McIver's express oral commission agreement did not prevent there being a subsequent implied commission agreement. Moylan v. Estes, 102 So.2d 855 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958), cert. denied, 106 So.2d 199 (Fla.1958), quoting 3 Corbin on Contracts, §564, calls the idea that an express contract always precludes an implied contract inaccurate and "misleading." Whether an implied contract exists is not an issue of law but a factual issue concerning the parties' intent: "[T]he fact that an express contract has been made does not prevent the parties from making another one tacitly, concerning the same subject matter or a different one." Id. 102 So.2d at 856. St. Joe's agreement with McIver to proceed by friendly condemnation either created by implication a new commission agreement on that subject, or modified, by implication, their original agreement to subsume this new procedure. See Wilson v. Ross Investment Co., 180 P.2d at 231 (broker would have been entitled to a *quantum meruit* recovery notwithstanding condemnation if the condemnation were the result of "subsequent conduct of the parties not covered by the express contract").

When it became clear to McIver and St. Joe in 1994 that the *only* way St. Joe would obtain the price it wanted for Topsail was through friendly condemnation, the parties -- so a jury could find -- impliedly amended the concept of "sale" in their

original commission agreement to cover any conveyance arising out of that condemnation:

[I]t frequently happens..., that, starting with an express contract, the parties soon and plainly, though tacitly, deliberately leave their original compact behind, and so conduct themselves, one performing services or rendering benefit to the other which the latter accepts, that a promise to pay may or even must be implied from their conduct. That is, their actions rather than their words produce implications from which a new contract appears.

Moylan v. Estes, 102 So.2d at 857. Like all contracting parties, St. Joe and McIver were free by their conduct to impliedly modify or alter their original commission agreement to redefine the concept of "sale." 3 Corbin on Contracts §564 (1960); Moylan v. Estes, 102 So.2d at 856.

Otherwise stated, at the moment McIver proposed and St. Joe agreed that McIver was to induce the State to condemn Topsail, the "subject" and terms of the parties' brokerage agreement were implicitly and consensually altered. At that point, a jury could find, the parties had modified or abandoned their original "sale"-dependent brokerage agreement in favor of a new agreement under which McIver would earn a commission on any "sale"-like conveyance consummated as a result of the condemnation process. St. Joe may not, after agreeing with McIver to abandon the initial objective of the brokerage and directing McIver to work toward another objective, deprive McIver of a recovery in implied contract or *quantum meruit* for helping St. Joe achieve its new objective. <u>Danieli Corp. v. Bryant</u>, 399 So.2d 387, 389 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981), rev. denied, 407 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 1981).

In short, if McIver is unsuccessful on his express contract claim, he is entitled to have the jury consider his alternative theory of

recovery: that St. Joe, by instructing him to initiate the condemnation process and thereafter affirming his agent status to the State, tacitly created a new agreement, or impliedly amended its initial, express agreement, to pay him a commission on any conveyance arising out of the condemnation. Whether an implied-in-fact contract was formed under these circumstances is a disputed factual issue and therefore a jury question. The District Court erred by affirming the summary judgment on McIver's implied-in-fact contract cause of action.

POINT III.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY AFFIRMING THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON MCIVER'S ALTERNATIVE QUASI-CONTRACT COUNT. A JURY COULD FIND THAT MCIVER HAD A QUASI-CONTRACTUAL RIGHT TO COMPENSATION IN THE EVENT THE STATE ACQUIRED ST. JOE'S LANDS BY CONDEMNATION.

Standard of Review

See Standard of Review, Point I, supra.

Argument

Count III of McIver's complaint alleges a cause of action in quasi-contract or contract implied in law (R5.892). McIver alleged this cause of action as a second alternative theory of recovery that the jury should consider if it found, under the express contract count, that the conveyance from St. Joe to the State was not the equivalent of a "sale." The trial judge erroneously decided that this cause of action, like the cause of action for a contract implied in fact, Point II, *supra, was barred by the presence of an express contract between the parties (R8.1424-1425). The District Court affirmed without discussion.* A quasi-contract is not based on the parties' assent or intent but is a device imposed by the law to prevent unjust enrichment. A quasi-contract will be found where the plaintiff confers a benefit on the defendant, the defendant knows of and accepts the benefit, and the circumstances are such that it would be inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without paying for it. <u>Commerce Partnership</u>, 695 So.2d at 386; <u>Rabon</u>, 693 So.2d at 1131-1132.

The express contract between St. Joe and McIver would not preclude an unjust enrichment recovery in quasi-contract if St. Joe requested and knowingly accepted additional, previously unbargained-for services from McIver. See Davis v. Department of Health & Rehab. Servs., 461 So.2d 210, 212 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) ("where a contract exists and changes or alterations are requested by the owner, the law does imply an obligation" to pay the reasonable value of the additional labor); Southern Bell Tel & Tel. Co. v. Acme Elect. Contractors, Inc., 418 So.2d 1187, 1189 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (same). If the jury were to find that the condemnation was not a "sale" under the express contract, and that the parties never discussed or contemplated condemnation at the time of the express contract, then the new condemnation-related services McIver rendered to St. Joe could not be subsumed in, or conflict with, the express contract. A jury could reasonably find in this case that McIver, at St. Joe's request, rendered new and additional services to St. Joe, beyond those contemplated under the parties' original express contract, the value of which it would be inequitable for St. Joe to retain without fairly compensating McIver.

McIver's services consisted of his astute advice to St. Joe that it value and convey Topsail through the consensual device of a friendly condemnation and his successful efforts to initiate the condemnation. The negotiations that McIver had begun soon culminated in a conveyance to the State that was vastly profitable to St. Joe. McIver, as the trial judge appropriately noted, "was the procuring cause" of the conveyance from St. Joe to the State (R8.1425).

The jury should be allowed to consider McIver's alternative quasicontractual theory of recovery if the jury decides that McIver is not entitled to recover under his express contract. St. Joe could be unjustly enriched by the friendly condemnation that McIver recommended and, at St. Joe's request, procured, if a remedy in quasi-contract is not allowed. The District Court erred in affirming the summary judgment on McIver's quasi-contract count.

POINT IV.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY AFFIRMING THE ORDER DENYING McIVER'S MOTION TO AMEND HIS COMPLAINT TO CLAIM A COMMISSION ON THE SALE OF DEER LAKE.

Standard of Review

An order denying leave to amend a complaint is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. <u>Dimick v. Ray</u>, 774 So.2d 830, 832 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). See <u>Standard of Review</u>, Point I, <u>supra</u>.

<u>Argument</u>

McIver moved to amend his second amended complaint to claim a commission on two additional forms of consideration that St. Joe received in the Topsail deal -- certain non-monetary benefits, and \$13.7 million in cash that the State had paid to purchase a portion of St. Joe's Deer Lake property (R5.846, 858; Supp.Record 5). St. Joe's non-monetary benefits included developmental rights in the portion of its Deer Lake property that it did not sell to the State (R5.835,838, 846; R6.1033-1034, 1046-1047, 1051-1052).

The trial judge allowed McIver to amend to claim a commission against St. Joe's non-monetary benefits. However, the judge denied McIver's request to claim a commission against the actual proceeds from the sale of a portion of Deer Lake. He believed that the Deer Lake claim was a "a completely separate, new cause of action," and stated, "I won't allow an amendment as to what I see as a new contract." (Supp.Record 16,36. R5.876). The District Court affirmed.

McIver was not asserting a "new contract" or a "new cause of action" by his claim against the proceeds from the sale of Deer Lake. McIver's claim was still based on his original agreement in which St. Joe had promised him a 2% commission computed on whatever it received from the sale of Topsail (R2.385-388,392-394,399;R3.400-401,437,495-496;R5.916-917,944,954-955). As McIver stated, "Topsail was my prime mover. There were other properties that the state discussed with me, and I would relay that to [St. Joe]. If any of those other properties were included, the 2-percent [commission] figure went with it." (R3. 401); "Two percent of any value derived to my client, St. Joe, was our fee agreement" (R3.496). Topsail and Deer Lake were negotiated as a unit (R6.1081-1084). The monies that the State paid to St. Joe for a portion of Deer Lake were part of the consideration for Topsail. The attorney for the State who negotiated the package with St. Joe confirms this: "[Deer Lake] was considered as part of the consideration for the whole deal" (R6.1043). Moreover, the non-monetary benefits claim that the judge did allow, and the sale proceeds claim that he did not allow, involve the same subject, "Deer Lake." The package of land use and developmental rights that St. Joe obtained allowed St. Joe to commercially exploit several of its Walton County properties including the part of its Deer Lake tract that it had not sold to the State. After properly allowing McIver to assert a commission claim against the non-monetary component of St. Joe's remuneration, the trial judge abused his discretion by refusing to allow a claim against a monetary component, where both components were part of and "relate[d] back" to the same underlying "conduct, transaction, or occurrence." Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.190 (c).

Refusal to allow a pleading to be amended under Rule 1.190 constitutes an abuse of discretion "unless it clearly appears that allowing the amendment would prejudice the opposing party; the privilege to amend has been abused; or amendment would be futile." <u>Bill Williams Air Conditioning & Heating, Inc. v.</u> <u>Haymarket Coop. Bank</u>, 592 So.2d 302, 305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>rev. dismissed</u>, 598 So.2d 76 (Fla. 1992). "[A]Il doubts should be resolved in favor of allowing amendment." <u>Id</u>. St. Joe did not prove, and the trial judge did not find that any of these factors was present.

Even if the Deer Lake purchase were a "new" issue, as the trial judge erroneously believed, the amendment should have been allowed absent "prejudice" to St. Joe. The 'newness' of an issue, standing alone, is not a legally sufficient basis on which to deny amendment. <u>Dimick v. Ray</u>, 774 So.2d at 834-835. St. Joe could not have been prejudiced by the amendment for two reasons. First, St. Joe knew all that it could ever know about the Deer Lake purchase. The State's purchase of Deer Lake was part of the same December 4, 1995, sales contract that had been a feature of this case from the inception. St. Joe already had conducted discovery on the subject. Deer Lake was mentioned 37 times in McIver's May 16 deposition, 32 times in the assistant attorney general's deposition, and innumerable times in deposition exhibits and discovery materials.

Secondly, after granting McIver's motion to amend on the non-monetary benefits issue, the judge continued the trial without date and reopened discovery to allow St. Joe to inquire further into that issue (R5.877). The judge could just as easily have allowed St. Joe to use that continuance and discovery period to pursue additional discovery -- if any more really was needed -- on the Deer Lake sale as well. <u>See Bostwick v. Bostwick</u>, 346 So.2d 150, 152 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) (error to deny motion to amend where trial continuance, though granted for other reasons, would have obviated any prejudice from the amendment); <u>Walker v. Senn</u>, 340 So.2d 975, 976 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976) (error to deny motion to amend where, <u>inter</u> <u>alia</u>, record did not show that amendment "would have necessarily delayed the final hearing."). The denial of McIver's motion to amend, and the District Court's affirmance thereof, were erroneous.

<u>CONCLUSION</u>

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